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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Built in 1892-1893, this massive two-story structure is eclectic in style with a castel­ 
lated High Victorian clock tower and Romanesque features elsewhere. The building is 83 1 
long and 69' wide and is of red pressed brick with Lake Superior brownstone ornamentation— 
keystones, lintels, quoins, and water table. Contractors for the excavation and foundation 
were Rinke and Means and for the building proper, Rinke and Carroll. A newspaper descrip­ 
tion of 1892 stated that the structure, "situated on a slight eminence directly facing 
the town, will present a sightly and handsome appearance."^

The main facade consists of three pavilions separated by two narrow bays. Towers at 
either corner—the one at the northeast (left) a tall clock tower originally specified 
to rise 40 feet above the roof,^ and that at the northwest (right) a three story tower 
with a dome-like roof—comprise the outer pavilions. The center pavilion has a large 
round-arched window at first floor level, segmentally-arched windows at second story 
level, and a large semicircular window in a gabled wall dormer at the top. There are 
also round-arched windows in the bays between pavilions at first story level and in the 
northeast tower. Most windows in the main block are segmentally arched with radiating 
voussoirs of brick and keystones of brownstone. On the east and west sides of the 
building are central pavilions which duplicate that of the main facade. The roof proper 
is a truncated hip.

Originally the village fire station was located in the front of the building, and a 
ramp leading to a large doorway in the central pavilion served as the driveway for the 
fire equipment. The ramp has been eliminated and the opening closed so that if conforms 
structurally with the rest of the building. The original front entry into the northeast 
tower has also been closed and walled in. The only remaining entry at the front of the 
building is now in the northwest tower and has a wooden enclosure built in front. One 
corner parapet of the northeast tower is missing and the four clocks are currently 
inoperative. A covered fire escape has been added to the rear of the building. Some 
back windows have been reduced in size and at least one completely closed by bricking-in. 
The building as a whole is in fair to good condition, however, and the owning organization 
wishes to renovate the building as much as possible and convert it, at least in part, 
to adaptive use as a museum and meeting place. The extent and rate of restoration will 
depend upon availability of funds.

1. Montreal River Miner, Oct. 22, 1892
2. Ibid.
3. Ibid.
4. Ibid.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Although this building would be considered less distinctive architecturally in the 
southern half of Wisconsin, it is an important composition and landmark building in its 
locale in Iron County in the far northern reaches of Wisconsin. There it represents 
the attempt of an architect and supervisor in the early 1890 f s to create an impressive 
public building, using a combination of styles and features he had probably seen in 
public or institutional buildings elsewhere. The result reflects favorably on the 
abilities of L. H. Ruggles and is considered to be architecturally significant at the 
local level in an area where little that is comparable can be found.

The building is also important in the local history of the city of Hurley and the 
Town of Vaughn, which was a township in the county of Ashland at the time the building's 
construction began. The structure was built as the new town hall of the Town of Vaughn, 
and it was unusual indeed for a Wisconsin civil town to erect a town hall of such 
dimensions, design, and materials as this when most town halls in the state were likely 
to be simple one or two story frame buildings. At the time, however, work was apparently 
already under way in the Wisconsin legislature to create a new county out of parts of 
Ashland and, possibly, Oneida counties. A newspaper story about the new building gave 
clear indications of the reasons for erecting such a structure, stating that it would 
contain "apartments for the fire department, a city jail, rooms for the town offices, 
library room, a large room that might be used for a court room or for any public 
gathering—in fact the building would serve for county purposes, and many counties in 
the state have nowhere near as fine a building as this will be."1 Its total cost was 
$27,303.63. 2

Although the building was to be the town hall of the Town of Vaughn, the new County of 
Iron, created in March 1893, had made arrangements to use most of it for county pur­ 
poses before the building was completed. On August 12, 1893, the local paper published 
the agreement between the county and the town whereby the Town of Vaughn leased to Iron 
County "All that portion of the new town hall which is contained in the entire upper story 
or on the second floor of said building and also all that portion of said building which 
is constructed for jail purposes, and also the two rooms at the south end of said 
building nearest the east side thereof, on the first or ground floor." The town agreed 
to furnish for all portions of the leased premises, "ample light, water, and heat at all 
times when needed for comfortable use and occupation of... lessee."^ The town retained 
the right to use the portion known as the court room for public meetings of the electors 
of the town, but the county had first priority on its use.

In reality, the building served as the Iron County Courthouse almost from the date of its 
completion in late 1893, and reports of proceedings of meetings of the Town Board of 
Vaughn printed in the Montreal River Miner usually indicated that the meetings were held 
at the town clerk's office on Copper Street. In an editorial, "The Situation," which
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appeared in the Miner on November 11, 1893, it was mentioned that, "Ever since the 
organization of Iron County, the plan of the Town of Vaughn selling its magnificent 
building to the county has been talked about and urged by many." The editorial 
called for adoption of this plan. As a matter of fact, the Miner, on several 
occasions before and after the date of the editorial, referred to the building as 
the courthouse. It was finally sold to Iron County in 1894. The town of Vaughn 
lost its name when Hurley, the county seat since Iron County was created in March, 
1893, became a city on November 10, 1910. The old landmark courthouse, vacated 
by the county in 1975, played a significant role in the governmental history of the 
Town of Vaughn, the County of Iron, and Wisconsin's once important iron mining area 
as a whole, and it merits preservation.

1. "The New Town Hall," Montreal River Miner» October 22, 1892
2. The Montreal River Miner of September 2, 1893 published the official list 

of expenses of the Town Hall, audited and allowed by the town board of 
Vaughn, and certified by J. A. Emunson, Town Clerk of Vaughn Township, 
August 14, 1893.

3. "The New Town Hall," Montreal River Miner, October 22, 1892
4. Ibid.
5. "Courthouse was originally built as Vaughn town hall," Iron County Miner, 

June 19, 1975.
6. "Iron county organized in 1893, 82 years ago," Iron County Miner, 

June 19, 1975.
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